

ARIZONA**HEALTH**FUTURES

# The Coming of Age

A Technical Paper on  
Aging, Health and  
Arizona's Capacity to Care

**MAY 2002**



St. Luke's Health Initiatives

**The Coming of Age  
Reference Guide**

Mary Anne Miller

# **The Coming of Age Reference Guide**

Mary Anne Miller  
Research Associate  
School of Public Affairs  
Arizona State University

The Coming of Age Project  
**School of Public Affairs**  
**St. Luke's Health Initiatives**  
May 2002

## Preface

Aging affects all dimensions of our society, but none so much as health. Because of this, St. Luke's Health Initiatives asked Arizona State University's School of Public Affairs and Morrison Institute for Public Policy to explore Arizona's capacity to meet the demands likely from an aging population.

This complex topic called for analysis from a variety of disciplines. Hence, as a key part of The Coming of Age research effort, we invited experts from different fields to explore and write about the topics essential to understanding public policy choices for an aging future. *The Coming of Age Technical Series* is the result. These papers provide in-depth, objective analyses of important trends and facts at the heart of the coming of age.

These technical papers provided the foundation for *The Coming of Age: Aging, Health and Arizona's Capacity to Care*, as well as *Four Scenarios of Arizona's Future*. All of the products from The Coming of Age project are available at [www.slhi.org](http://www.slhi.org).

Roger Hughes, Ph.D.  
Executive Director  
St. Luke's Health Initiatives

John Stuart Hall, Ph.D.  
Project Director and Professor  
School of Public Affairs  
Arizona State University

## The Coming of Age Reference Guide

The sources listed here were used in developing *The Coming of Age: Aging, Health and Arizona's Capacity to Care*. This reference guide presents materials and web sites that offer both the expert and layperson general sources of information on many aspects of aging, as well as starting places for research on particular topics. The web sites are described briefly so that readers have an idea of the content and scope of the site before devoting time to it.

The guide is organized in the following categories:

<b>Aging, Health, and Policy</b> . . . . .	2
<b>Demographic Information</b> . . . . .	4
<b>Caregiving and Community</b> . . . . .	5
<b>Health Economics and Financing</b> . . . . .	6
<b>Aging in the Future</b> . . . . .	8
<b>Workforce Issues</b> . . . . .	9
<b>Web Sites</b>	
Public Policy, Research, and Aging Information . . . . .	10
Medical and Clinical . . . . .	11
Aging Advocacy . . . . .	11

## **Aging, Health, and Policy**

- AARP. (1999). *Acronyms in aging: Organizations, agencies, programs and laws*, [www.aarp.org/](http://www.aarp.org/).
- Administration on Aging. (2001, March 20). *Historical evolution of programs for older Americans*, [www.aoa.gov/network/history.html](http://www.aoa.gov/network/history.html).
- Administration on Aging. (2001, January) *Older adults and mental health: Issues and opportunities*, [www.aoa.gov/](http://www.aoa.gov/).
- Administration on Aging. (1996, 31 May). *Aging into the 21st century*, [www.aoa.gov/aoa/stats/aging21/](http://www.aoa.gov/aoa/stats/aging21/).
- Alliance for Aging Research. (2001). *Great expectations: America's views on aging—National aging research survey*, [www.agingresearch.org/survey/pollsummary1.htm](http://www.agingresearch.org/survey/pollsummary1.htm).
- Bazerman, M. H., Baron, J., & Shonk, K. (2001). *You can't enlarge the pie: Six barriers to effective government*. New York: Basic Books.
- Bernstein, J., & Stevens, R. A. (1999). Public opinion, knowledge, and Medicare reform. *Health Affairs*, 18 (1), 180–193.
- Blanchette, P. L., & Valcour, V. G. (1998). Health and aging among baby boomers. *Generations*, 22 (Spring), 76–80.
- Brandon, W. P., & Bradley, D. B. (1997). The elderly and health politics: The “Coming of Age” of aging. In T. J. Litman & L. S. Robins (Eds.), *Health politics and policy* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed., pp. 323–351). Boston: Delmar Publishers.
- Broder, D. (2002). Health care meltdown needs emergency care. *The Arizona Republic* Monday 7 January, B-7.
- Brown, D. K. (1997). *Introduction to public policy: An aging perspective*. Lanham, MD: University Press of America.
- Callahan, D. (1987). *Setting limits: Medical goals in an aging society*. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Coward, R. T., & Krout, J. A. (1998). *Aging in rural settings: Life circumstances and distinctive features*. New York: Springer.
- Cutler, D. M. (2001). Declining disability among the elderly. *Health Affairs*, 20 (6), 11–27.
- Dychtwald, K. (Ed.). (1999). *Healthy aging: Challenges and solutions*. Gaithersburg, MD: Aspen Publishers.
- Dychtwald, K. (1999). *Age power: How the 21st century will be ruled by the new old*. New York: Penguin Putnam.
- Ehrenreich, B., & Ehrreich, J. (1971). *The American health empire: Power, profits, and politics*. New York: Vintage.
- Estes, C. L., with Associates. (2001). *Social policy and aging: A critical perspective*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Grantmakers in Aging. (2000). “Building elder-friendly communities for the 21st century.” Pp. 1 in *Building elder-friendly communities: Opportunities for creative grantmaking*, report from the 2000 conference of Grantmakers in Aging, October 11–13, New York, N.Y.
- Haber, C., & Gratton, B. (1994). *Old age and the search for security*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

- Hackler, C. (Ed.). (1994). *Health care for an aging population*. Albany: State University of New York Press.
- Kronenfeld, J. (1997). *The changing federal role in U.S. health care policy*. Westport, CT: Praeger.
- Lubitz, J., Greenberg, L. G., Gorina, Y., Wartzman, L., & Gibson, D. (2001). Three decades of health care use by the elderly, 1965–1998. *Health Affairs*, 20 (2), 19–32.
- MacManus, S. A., with Turner, P. A. (1996). *Young v. old: Generational combat in the 21<sup>st</sup> century*. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Martin, L.G., & Soldo, B. J. (Eds.). (1997). *Racial and ethnic differences in the health of older Americans*. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press
- Maugans, J. E. (1994). *Aging parents, ambivalent baby boomers: A critical approach to gerontology*. Dix Hills, NY: General Hall.
- Mitchell, D. J. (2000). *Pensions, politics and the elderly*. London: M.E. Sharpe.
- National Alliance for Caregiving & National Center on Women and Aging. (1999). *The MetLife juggling act study: Balancing caregiving with work and the costs involved*. New York: Metropolitan Life Insurance Company.
- Oriol, W. E. (1987). *Federal public policy on aging since 1960: An annotated bibliography*. New York: Greenwood Press.
- Pillemer, K., & Sutor, J. J. (1998). Baby boom families: Relations with aging parents. *Generations*, 22 (Spring 1998), 65–69.
- Rich, B. M., & Baum, M. (1984). *The aging: A guide to public policy*. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press.
- Rich, R. F., & White, W. D. (Eds.). (1996). *Health policy, federalism and the American states*. Washington, DC: Urban Institute Press.
- Rosell, S. A. (1999). *Renewing governance: Governing by learning in the information age*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Rowe, J., & Kahn, R. (1998). *Successful aging*. New York: Pantheon Books
- Sapp, S. (1992). *Light on a gray area: American public policy on aging*. Nashville: Abingdon Press.
- Steckenrider, J. S., & Parrott, T. M., (Eds.). (1998). *New directions in old-age policies*. Albany: State University of New York Press.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2000). *HHS fact sheet: HHS programs and initiatives for aging America*, [www.hhs.gov/news/press/2000pres/20000503b.html](http://www.hhs.gov/news/press/2000pres/20000503b.html).
- University of Arizona. (2001). *New aging, new generations: Positioning Pima County in the 21<sup>st</sup> century*. Tucson: Commission on the New Aging.
- Urban Institute. (1998). *Policy challenges posed by the aging of America*. Washington, DC: Author.
- Vaillant, G. (2002). *Aging well: Surprising guideposts to a happier life from the Landmark Harvard Study of Adult Development*. New York: Little Brown.
- Wallace, S. P., & Estes, C. L. (1996). Health policy for the elderly. In J. Quandagno & D. Street (Eds.), *Aging for the twenty-first century*. New York: St. Martin's Press.
- Yankelovich, D. (1991). *Coming to public judgment: Making democracy work in a complex world*. Syracuse, NY: Syracuse University Press.
- Zhou, H. (Ed.). (2001). *The political economy of health care reforms*. Kalamazoo, MI: Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.

## Demographic Information

- Arizona Department of Economic Security Research Administration. (1997). *Population projections by age and sex, state and county*. Phoenix: Author.
- Arizona State University West. (1997). *The Arizona factbook on aging*. Phoenix, AZ: Arizona State University West, College of Human Services Partnership for Community Development.
- Arizona Women's Town Hall. (1995). *Women and aging in Arizona*. Phoenix, AZ: Author.
- Coward, R. T., & Krout, J. A. (Eds.). (1998). *Aging in rural settings: Life circumstances and distinctive features*. New York: Springer Publishing.
- Federal Interagency Forum on Aging Related Statistics. (2000). *Older Americans 2000: Key indicators of well-being*, [www.agingstats.gov](http://www.agingstats.gov).
- Gober, P. (2000). Public policy ramifications of elderly migration and age segregation in metropolitan Phoenix. Unpublished paper.
- Kaiser Family Foundation. (1998). *National survey on Medicare policy options*. Menlo Park, CA: Author.
- Kaiser Family Foundation. (2000, September). *National survey on health care and other elder care issues*. Menlo Park, CA: Author.
- Mitchell, S. (1996). Are boomers their parents? *American Demographics*, (August, 1996), 40–45.
- State of Arizona Department of Economic Security. (2000, June) *Annual report: Aging and adult administration*. Phoenix, AZ: Author.
- Tilly, J., Goldenson, S., Kasten, J., O'Shaughnessy, C., Kelly, R., & Sidor, G. (2000). *Long-term care chart book: Persons served, payors and spending*. Washington, DC: Urban Institute and Congressional Research Service.

## Caregiving and Community

- AARP. (2001). Nursing homes, [www.research.aarp.org/health/fs10r\\_nursing.html](http://www.research.aarp.org/health/fs10r_nursing.html).
- Administration on Aging. (2001, September). *HHS awards Native American elders caregiver grants*, [www.aoa.gov/pressroom/Pr2001/naecaregivers.html](http://www.aoa.gov/pressroom/Pr2001/naecaregivers.html).
- Administration on Aging. (2001, May). *Respite: What caregivers need most*, [www.aoa.dhhs.gov/factsheets/respite.html](http://www.aoa.dhhs.gov/factsheets/respite.html).
- Administration on Aging. (1996). *Home and community-based long-term care in American Indian and Alaska native communities: Executive summary*, [www.aoa.dhhs.gov/network/fhcbltc/execsum.html](http://www.aoa.dhhs.gov/network/fhcbltc/execsum.html).
- Alzheimer's Association. (1999). *Estimated value of informal caregiving, Number of informal caregivers and caregiver hours*, [www.alz.org/media/news/1999/chart.htm](http://www.alz.org/media/news/1999/chart.htm).
- Arizona Health Care Cost Containment System & Arizona Department of Economic Security. (2000, October). *Arizona's community-based services and settings report*. Phoenix, AZ: Author.
- Arno, P. S., Levine, C., & Memmott, M. M. (1999). The economic value of informal caregiving. *Health Affairs*, 18 (2), 182–188.
- Coleman, B. (2000). *Helping the helpers: State-supported services for family caregivers*. (AARP Public Policy Institute Paper #2000-07). Washington, DC: Author.
- Eklund, K., & White, K. (1998). *Baby steps to 2030: Final report of the New Wrinkle on Aging Task Force*. (Joint report by the Citizens League and the Minnesota Department of Human Service, Minnesota Board on Aging.) <http://www.citizensleague.net/projects/2030/report.htm>.
- Feder, J., Komisar, H. L., & Niefeld, M. (2000). Long-term care in the United States: An overview. *Health Affairs*, 19 (3), 40–56.
- Johnson, B. (2001). *Alzheimer's disease and caregiver burden*. (CRS Report for Congress). Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service.
- National Civic League. (1998). Building healthier communities: Ten years of learning symposium. *National Civic Review* (1998, Winter), 283–367.
- Roots, C. R. (1998). *The sandwich generation: Adult children caring for aging parents*. New York: Garland Publishing.
- Silin, P. S. (2001). *Nursing homes: The family's journey*. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Tennstedt, S. (1999, March). *Family caregiving in an aging society*. Paper presented at the U. S. Administration on Aging Symposium: Longevity in the New American Century, Baltimore, MD.
- Wolf, D. A. (1999). The family as provider of long-term care. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 11 (3) 360–382.
- Yeo, G. (1997). Ethnogeriatrics: Cross-cultural care of older adults. *Generations*, 20 (1996–97, Winter), 72–77.



## Health Economics and Financing

- Blair, R. D., & Vogel, R. J. (1975). *The cost of health insurance administration: An economic analysis*. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.
- Blendon, R. J., Benson, J. M., Brodie, M., Brossard, M., Altman, D. E., & Morin, R. (1997). What do Americans know about entitlements? *Health Affairs*, 17 (5), 111–116.
- Boaz, R. F., Hu, J., & Ye, Y. (1999). The transfer of resources from middle-aged children to functionally limited elderly parents: Providing time, giving money, sharing space. *The Gerontologist*, 39 (6), 648–657.
- Bonifazi, W. L. (1998). Who pays for long term care? *Contemporary Long Term Care*, 21 (10), 76–82.
- Cohen, M. A., & Weinrobe, M. (2000). *Tax deductibility of long-term care insurance premiums: Implications for market growth and public LTC expenditures*. Washington, DC: Health Insurance Association of America.
- Cohen, M. A. (1998). Emerging trends in the finance and delivery of long-term care: Public and private opportunities and challenges. *The Gerontologist*, (38) 1, 80–89.
- Cutler, N. E. (1997). The false alarms and blaring sirens of financial literacy: Middle-agers' knowledge of retirement income, health finance, and long-term care. *Generations*, 21 (2), 34–40.
- Cutler, N. E. (1998). Preparing for their older years: The financial diversity of aging boomers? *Generations*, 22 (1998, Spring), 81–86.
- Etheredge, L. (1999). Three streams, one river: A coordinated approach to financing retirement. *Health Affairs*, 18 (1), 80–91.
- Farrell, C., Palmer, A. T., Atchison, S., & Andelman, R. (1994, September 12). The economics of aging. *Business Week*, 3389, 60–68.
- Fuchs, Victor (1999). Health care for the elderly: How much? Who will pay for it? *Health Affairs*, 18 (1999, Jan-Feb), 11–21.
- Feldstein, P. J. (Ed.) (1999). *Health policy issues: An economic perspective on health reform* (2<sup>nd</sup> Ed). Chicago: Health Administration Press.
- Iglehart, J. K. (2000). Family, marketplace and the state: Striking a balance. *Health Affairs*, 19 (2000, May-June), 6–7.
- Lakdawalla, D., & Philipson, T. (1999, February). *Aging and the growth of long-term care*. (National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No.6980), [www.nber.org/papers/w6980](http://www.nber.org/papers/w6980).
- Lee, R., & Skinner, J. (1999). Will aging baby boomers bust the federal budget? *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 13 (1), 117–140.
- Levit, K., Smith, C., Cowan, C., Lazenby, H., & Martin, A. (2002). Inflation spurs health spending in 2000. *Health Affairs*, 21 (1), 172–181.
- McClellan, M., & Skinner, J. (1999). Medicare reform: Who pays and who benefits? *Health Affairs*, 18 (1), 48–62.
- Mullan, F. (2002). Some thoughts on the white-follows-green law. *Health Affairs*, 21 (1), 158–159.
- Proce, R. (1999). *Long-term care for the elderly: Themes of financing reform*. (CRS Report for Congress). Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service.

- Rettenmaier, A. J., & Saving T. R. (2000). *The economics of Medicare reform*. Kalamazoo, MI: Upjohn Institute for Employment Research.
- Reynolds, S. L. (2000, January). Changing patterns in health and economic status: The impact on baby boomers' retirement planning. *Aging Research and Policy Report*, 9, 23–30. [www.fpeca.usf.edu/publications/Aging%20Documents/arpr9.pdf](http://www.fpeca.usf.edu/publications/Aging%20Documents/arpr9.pdf).
- Rivlin, A., & Wiener, J. M. (1988). *Caring for the disabled elderly: Who will pay?* Washington DC: The Brookings Institute.
- Schulz, J. H. (2001). *The economics of aging* (7th ed.). Westport, CT: Auburn House.
- United States General Accounting Office (1998). *Long-term care: Baby boom generation presents financing challenges*. (GAO/T-HEHS –98-107). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Vogel, R. J. (1999). *Medicare: Issues in political economy*. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.

## Aging in the Future

- Arizona Health Care Cost Containment System. (2001). *Long-term care: Now and the next generation*, [www.ahcccs.state.az.us](http://www.ahcccs.state.az.us).
- Arizona Town Hall (Prescott, Arizona). (1999). *Future directions for Arizona's health care*. (Background Report for the Seventy-Fourth Arizona Town Hall). Phoenix: Arizona Town Hall.
- Cassel, C. K., Besdine, R. W., & Siegel, L. C. (1999). Restructuring Medicare for the next century: What will beneficiaries really need? *Health Affairs*, *18* (1), 118–131.
- Coughlin, J. F. (1999). Technology needs of aging boomers. *Issues in Science and Technology*, *17* (3), 53–60.
- Glied, S., & Stabile, M. (1999). Covering older Americans: Forecast for the next decade. *Health Affairs*, *18* (1999, Jan-Feb), 208–213.
- Institute for the Future. (2000). *Health and health care: The forecast and the challenge*. (Report funded by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Manton, K. G., Singer, B. H., & Suzman, R. M., (Eds.). (1993). *Forecasting the health of elderly populations*. New York: Springer.
- Mitka, M. (1999). Futurists see longer, better life in the third millennium. *JAMA*, *281* (18), 1685–1686.
- Morrison, I. (2002). *Healthcare in the new millennium: Vision, values and leadership*. Andersen Consulting, Health Futures Forum. San Francisco: JosseyBass Publishers.
- National Research Council, (2001). *Preparing for an aging world: The case for cross-national research*. Washington D.C.: National Academy Press.
- Quandagno, J., & Street, D. (1996). *Aging for the twenty-first century: Readings in social gerontology*. New York: St. Martin's Press.
- Reischauer, R. D. (1997). Medicare: Beyond 2002; Preparing for the baby boomers. *The Brookings Review*, *15* (Summer), 24–27.
- Singer, B. H., & Manton, K. G. (1998). The effects of health changes on projections of health service needs for the elderly population of the United States. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *95* (26), 15618–15622.
- State of Arizona, Department of Economic Security, Division of Aging and Community Services. (2000). *Aging and adult administration: Arizona state plan for fiscal years 2001–2003*. Phoenix, AZ: Author.
- St. Luke's Health Initiatives. (2000, Fall). Is employer based health insurance obsolete? *Arizona Health Futures*, Brochure. Phoenix, AZ: Author.
- Van der Heijden, K. (1996). *Scenarios: The art of strategic conversation*. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Weber, D. O. (2000). Mapping the future: When health care leaders mix and match possible routes through the decade ahead, surprising scenarios emerge. *Health Forum Journal*, [www.healthforumjournal.com/...isplay.asp?PubID=7&ArticleID=13147](http://www.healthforumjournal.com/...isplay.asp?PubID=7&ArticleID=13147).

## Workforce Issues

- Arizona Association of Homes and Housing for the Aging & Arizona Health Care Association. (2001). *2001 salary and benefit survey report*. Cumberland Center, ME: Flikirs Professional Services.
- Arizona Hospital and Healthcare Association. (2000, February). *Arizona nursing: Issues and trends 2000*. Phoenix, AZ: Author.
- Arizona Hospital and Healthcare Association. (2001, April). *Arizona hospitals brace for "The Perfect Storm."* Phoenix, AZ: Author.
- Buerhaus, P. I., & Staiger, D. O. (1999). Trouble in the nurse labor market? Recent trends and future outlook. *Health Affairs, 18* (Jan-Feb), 214–222.
- Cooper, R. A., Getzen, T. E., McKee, H. J. and Laud, P. (2002). Economic and demographic trends signal an impending physician shortage. *Health Affairs, 21* (1), 140–154.
- Gonzales, A. (2001, October 4). Study shows nurse shortage growing. *The Business Journal of Phoenix*.
- Lange, Laurie. *The Status of Arizona's Hospitals*. Arizona Hospital and Healthcare Association Report. Phoenix, AZ: Arizona Hospital and Healthcare Association Report.
- Mundinger, M. O. (2002). Through a different looking glass. *Health Affairs, 21* (1), 163–164.
- Nevidjon, B., & Erickson, J. I. (2001, January 31). The nursing shortage: Solutions for the short and long term. *Online Journal of Issues in Nursing, 6* (1), Manuscript 4, [www.nursingworld.org/ojin/topic14/tpc14\\_4.htm](http://www.nursingworld.org/ojin/topic14/tpc14_4.htm).
- Poulos, S., & Nightingale, D. S. (1997). *The aging baby boom: Implication for employment and training programs*. (Urban Institute Report). Washington, DC: Urban Institute Report.
- Stone, R. I., & Wiener, J. M. (2001) *Who will care for us? Addressing the long-term care workforce crisis*. (Urban Institute Report). Washington, DC: Urban Institute Report, [www.urban.org/health/CareForUs.html](http://www.urban.org/health/CareForUs.html).
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2001). *HHS NEWS: HHS awards \$27.4 million to address emerging nursing shortage*, [www.hrsa.gov/newsroom/releases/2001%20Releases/nurseshortage.htm](http://www.hrsa.gov/newsroom/releases/2001%20Releases/nurseshortage.htm).
- United States General Accounting Office. (2001). *Nursing workforce: Emerging nurse shortages due to multiple factors*. (GAO-01-944). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Weiner, J. P. (2002). A shortage of physicians or a surplus of assumptions. *Health Affairs, 21* (1), 160–162.
- Willis, R. J. (1999). *Health and retirement study: A longitudinal study of aging and retirement*, [www.umich.edu/~hrswww/](http://www.umich.edu/~hrswww/).

## Web Sites

### *Public Policy, Research, and Information*

**Administration on Aging**—[www.aoa.gov](http://www.aoa.gov)

Comprehensive site sponsored by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services providing current updates, reports, and statistics.

**Alliance for Aging Research**—[www.agingresearch.org](http://www.agingresearch.org)

Nonprofit organization dedicated to medical research and geriatric education.

**American Association of Homes and Services for the Aging**—[www.aahsa.org](http://www.aahsa.org)

Site representing nonprofit nursing homes and elder residences that promotes healthy affordable long-term care living for the elderly.

**American Society on Aging**—[www.asaging.org](http://www.asaging.org)

Educational and information site designed for those who work with older adults.

**Arizona Center on Aging**—[www.aging.arizona.edu](http://www.aging.arizona.edu)

Site designed to provide education and training of health and social service personnel, promoting research and information regarding issues of care.

**Arizona Health Care Cost Containment System**—[www.ahcccs.state.az.us/](http://www.ahcccs.state.az.us/)

The state agency site offers many types of information on health care for low-income Arizonans.

**Duke University Center for the Study of Aging and Human Development**—[www.geri.duke.edu](http://www.geri.duke.edu)

**Gerontological Society of America**—[www.geron.org](http://www.geron.org)

Research and education driven, this site provides numerous links to Institute for the Future of Aging Services—[www.aahsa.org/ifas](http://www.aahsa.org/ifas)

**Kaiser Consulting**—[www.kaiser.net](http://www.kaiser.net)

Health forecasters/futurists offering state-of-the-art thinking.

**Kaiser Family Foundation**—[www.kff.org](http://www.kff.org)

Philanthropy involved in research in many areas of health policy, media and public education and health and development. The site is home to State Health Facts, an easy-to-use comparison tool for all fifty states.

**National Aging Information Center**—[www.aoa.dhhs.gov/NAIC](http://www.aoa.dhhs.gov/NAIC)

Arm of the federal Administration of Aging providing data and reports.

**National Council on the Aging**—[www.ncoa.org](http://www.ncoa.org)

Nonprofit organization dedicated to the promotion of the dignity, self-determination and well-being of the older adult. This information and educational site has much to offer consumers.

**National Center for Health Statistics**—[www.cdc.gov/nchs](http://www.cdc.gov/nchs)

Reports and list of publications available through the Center for Disease Control.

**Robert Wood Johnson Foundation**—[www.rwjf.org](http://www.rwjf.org)

Nationally renowned philanthropy which provides extensive grants and funding for research in health and health care.

**Urban Institute**—[www.urban.org](http://www.urban.org)

Nonpartisan organization dedicated to research on social and economic policy issues. Sites provide access to hundreds of the institute's reports, including recent reports on health workforce issues.

**U.S. Census Bureau**—[www.census.gov](http://www.census.gov)

Branch of the U.S. Department of Commerce which provides the most current data on the economy and people of the United States and an excellent starting place for any data question.

**U.S. Department of Health and Human Services**—[www.hhs.gov](http://www.hhs.gov)

Principal federal government agency devoted to the health of all Americans.

**U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs**—[www.va.gov](http://www.va.gov)

Principal federal information site for veterans which provides information about veterans' benefits and health-care opportunities.

**U.S. General Accounting Office**—[www.gao.gov](http://www.gao.gov)

The investigative arm of the U.S. Congress, this site provides access to reports completed on many issues related to government operations.

**U.S. Social Security Administration**—[www.ssa.gov](http://www.ssa.gov)

This site provides a significant amount of information related to retirement benefits, disability benefits and Medicare.

*Medical and Clinical*

**Agency for Health Care Policy and Research**—[www.ahrp.gov](http://www.ahrp.gov)

Site promotes research on health care outcomes to improve the quality of health care. Reports available on line.

**American Federation for Aging Research**—[www.afar.org](http://www.afar.org)

Private organization which supports biomedical aging research.

**American Geriatrics Society**—[www.americangeriatrics.org](http://www.americangeriatrics.org)

Organization represents professionals in the field of geriatrics.

**National Arthritis Foundation**—[www.arthritis.org](http://www.arthritis.org)

Nonprofit organization supporting advocacy, programs, services, and research on more than 100 types of arthritis and related conditions.

**National Institute on Aging**—[www.nih.gov/nia](http://www.nih.gov/nia)

One of the institute arms of the National Institute of Health (the primary biomedical research site for the U.S. government), this site offers information promoting healthy aging. News releases and reports available on line.

**National Osteoporosis Foundation**—[www.nof.org](http://www.nof.org)

Promoting health in bones and providing resources on this important health topic.

*Aging Advocacy*

**Alliance for Retired Americans**—[www.retiredamericans.org](http://www.retiredamericans.org)

Organization sponsored by the AFL-CIO and community-based organizations to protect the health and economic security of seniors.

**Alzheimer's Association**—[www.alz.org](http://www.alz.org)

Resource site for medical information about Alzheimer's disease and caregiver information

**American Association of Retired Persons**—[www.aarp.org](http://www.aarp.org)

Advocacy organization for aging adults providing general information as well as research generation information. Consumer oriented with tips from nutrition to retirement.

**ElderWeb**—[www.elderweb.com](http://www.elderweb.com)

Information on all aspects of eldercare and long-term care with many links to long-term care organizations.

**Gray Panthers**—[www.graypanthers.org](http://www.graypanthers.org)

Advocacy organization which works towards social and economic justice, this informational site gives local chapter information.

**National Association of Area Agencies on Aging**—[www.n4a.org](http://www.n4a.org)

This national organization (representing the 655 area agencies on aging) advocates on resources and support services to individual agencies.

**National Committee to Preserve Social Security and Medicare**—[www.ncpssm.org](http://www.ncpssm.org)

Grassroots citizens' organization which advocates the preservation of Social Security and Medicare for all citizens. Site provides information and educational material.

**National Family Caregivers Association**—[www.nfcacares.org](http://www.nfcacares.org)

Nonprofit organization which supports family caregivers and advocates caregivers' needs. Site offers extensive caregiver information.